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FOREWORD

To many Americans and many people around the world, Roswell, New Mexico, carries a special meaning. For a wide variety of reasons, Roswell represents a place where something—an extraterrestrial spaceship, according to some, a sophisticated weather balloon to others—crashed in July 1947.

The mystery surrounding this crash has never been adequately explained—not by independent investigators, and not by the U.S. government. In 2002, using the latest high-tech tools, scientists from the University of New Mexico initiated an archeological dig sponsored by the SCI FI Channel to help determine what crashed into the desert near Roswell.

Using all of the tools and capabilities of modern science, we need to get to the bottom of something that has perplexed millions of Americans, and others, for more than fifty-seven years. The mystery surrounding the Roswell crash has become a fixture of American culture. It has been the focus of dozens of books, documentaries, TV specials, and movies. There are as many theories as there are official explanations.

Clearly, it would help everyone if the U.S. government disclosed everything it knows. Openness is our best policy. The American people can handle the truth—no matter how bizarre or mundane. And after more than fifty-five years, every government document on the Roswell incident should be released to the public. With full disclosure and our best scientific investigation, we should be able to find out what happened on that fateful day in July 1947.

The Honorable Bill Richardson
Office of the Governor
Santa Fe, New Mexico
June 2004



INTRODUCTION: DIGGING UP THE TRUTH

by Thomas J. Carey and Donald R. Schmitt

The alleged Roswell UFO crash of 1947 remains one of the great unsolved mysteries of the twentieth century, if not in the annals of history. Something truly extraordinary crashed on an isolated ranch in central New Mexico, and after fifty-plus years the high desert country still protects its secrets. We know that fact better than anyone, thanks to what transpired within days of the initial event.

The U.S. military went to extreme lengths to conceal its own concern as well as the true nature of the strange wreckage. An official press release, dated July 8, 1947, verified the Army Air Force’s recovery of a flying disc, as UFOs were then called, near the sleepy desert town of Roswell, New Mexico. Later the same day, that astonishing claim was retracted by the military, and the unknown object was said to have been nothing more than a common weather balloon device. And so the secret was kept intact as the prevailing desert winds resumed inexorably over the silent, vacant ranchland.

But behind the scenes, the government was using all available means, legal and illegal, to quash media interest in “the story of the millennium.” The crash site was cordoned off from all outsiders, including the press, and every shred of evidence was retrieved. But time has a way of mitigating such extreme efforts, and the ultimate proof still remains. That is, of course, if one is willing to look for it.

The cover-up was executed with such dispatch and precision that the Roswell Incident,* as it is now generally referred to, was thought to have been effectively contained and relegated to the “Silly Season” file. But no secret, especially a government secret, is safe these days, and Roswell is no exception. This fact became quite evident when former Roswell base intelligence officer Major Jesse A. Marcel decided to reveal his role in those long-ago events. “It was nothing made on this earth,” he declared. The truth was beginning to emerge.

This was the very first indication that the original press release stating that a crashed UFO had been “captured” was the correct one. Additional witnesses would soon be located or come forward, and a new version of what transpired at Roswell in 1947 began to peel away the layers of a cover-up. One of the incident’s most puzzling aspects was why the military in Roswell would continue to detain ranch foreman W. W. “Mack” Brazel for days after the balloon story had been accepted by the press as the alternative explanation. After all, it was Brazel who had originally alerted Marcel and others to the massive amount of unusual wreckage on a remote ranch seventy-five miles northwest of Roswell. And it was his son, Bill Brazel Jr., who, upon learning of Mack’s fate, rushed from his home and new bride in Albuquerque to the ranch and filled in for his absent father. Not only would Bill Jr. discover the heavy vehicle tracks left behind by the military during the cleanup, but he would also become a firsthand eyewitness to one of the most striking pieces of evidence that still intrigues researchers of the Roswell story today: a 500-foot gouge, starting at the upper northwest pinnacle of the debris field site, where something had impacted the surface of the hard desert terrain.

After his father’s return, Bill Brazel Jr. would continue to help out on the ranch. During this period, he fortuitously found several small pieces of the wreckage scattered nearby, but not buried. His descriptions of what he found were consistent with those of Major Marcel. Unfortunately, when the military found out two years later about the “scraps” that Bill Jr. was keeping in a cigar box, air force officers from Roswell went to his home and confiscated everything. Nevertheless, the fact that pieces of wreckage were found after the military recovery operation at the crash site implies that more debris may still exist around the location. Of course, it is one thing to deduce that there are artifacts from 1947 still at the crash site; it is quite another matter to find them.

As with the case against the UFO phenomenon in general, critics cite the lack of hard physical evidence in the Roswell, New Mexico, case as proof that nothing of an extraterrestrial nature occurred there in July 1947, as witnesses and researchers contend. Although witness testimony is considered evidence in courts of law throughout the land, the testimonies from individuals bearing witness to the extraordinary events, now numbering into the hundreds, are not considered sufficient as proof by skeptics, debunkers, academics, and most elite media. Incontrovertible physical evidence, they say, must be obtained, and good science must be brought to bear upon it before definitive conclusions can be made. These same worthies, however, uncritically accept the air force’s balloon explanation as fact, without a smidgen of evidence—let alone proof—to support it.

Most UFO researchers, scientists, and academics alike, agree that the subject of UFOs, unlike other fields of study, does not readily lend itself to the application of the so-called scientific method for studying the phenomenon in order to produce verifiable results that can be tested and replicated (requirements for any conclusions to be drawn from such studies). One aspect of the Roswell case, however, does lend itself to the implementation of scientific methods of scrutiny—namely, allegations that physical artifacts were recovered from the crash. To date, all such claimed artifacts, when subjected to testing, have been shown to be either definitely of earthly origin (as in the case of a piece of Japanese jewelry a few years ago) or not demonstrably otherworldly in nature. Is waiting for someone to show up on our doorstep with the Holy Grail of Roswell the best we can do in our quest to find the answer?

Over the twenty-five years that the Roswell case has been investigated, researchers have suggested that there may have been as many as three separate but related crash sites involved in the event. Not all agree, however, on their locations, with the notable exception of one site. Even the air force agrees on this one site, though it disagrees that it was a UFO that crashed there. This site is located on the former J. B. Foster Ranch, where Mack Brazel found a large sheep pasture covered with pieces of strange wreckage. The air force does not dispute the location of this site, and it agrees that something crashed there in 1947, but it disputes what it was, choosing to believe instead that Brazel found the remains of a high-altitude balloon array and acoustic device used in a failed attempt to detect the expected detonation of the Soviet Union’s first atomic bomb.

What was it then—a UFO, as civilian investigators suggest, or a balloon and tinfoil device, as per the official position of the air force today? These are the only choices now available to us, after years of study and controversy. Although the site was “vacuumed” back in 1947, testimony by the late Bill Brazel Jr. and others suggest that the military did not retrieve all of the debris. Wind action may have carried pieces of the debris far from their original area of concentration to more outlying areas, and burrowing animals may have carried pieces into their subterranean nests. Whatever it was, it is not too far-fetched to think that several, or even many, pieces remain buried within just a few feet of the surface of the desert floor and, therefore, might be obtained using standard archeological field methodology. If this were successful, we would finally have the answer once and for all.

In 1989 a small band of researchers from the J. Allen Hynek Center for UFO Studies in Chicago attempted to conduct a preliminary archeological survey of the acknowledged (Brazel) debris field site associated with the 1947 Roswell events. Meagerly funded and short on trained personnel, this underequipped “dig” turned up a rusted tin can and a single shell casing for its efforts. Understandably, no report of this endeavor was ever written. A return to the site to conduct a follow-up excavation was planned, but the necessary funding never materialized; the idea never came to fruition and was forgotten.

In May 1998, the two of us joined forces to continue a proactive investigation of the case. In 1999 we approached the University of New Mexico’s Office of Contract Archeology in Albuquerque about the feasibility of conducting a full-scale historical archeological “dig” at the Foster Ranch crash site in Lincoln County, New Mexico, for the purpose of unearthing whatever might lie buried just beneath the surface of the earth there. To our gratification, the archeologists at UNM concurred that it could be done in a normal manner with standard archeological field techniques that would be used for any dig in that locale. Everyone agreed that the dig should be undertaken, given its historical import to the state of New Mexico as well as its potential payoff—the definitive answer to one of the great mysteries of all time, and the possibility of proof that we are not alone in the universe.

Once in hand, we shopped the dig proposal around for several years to potentially interested sources of funding, without success. In the spring of 2002 we were approached by the SCI FI Channel’s Larry Landsman about working together on a project connected to Roswell. A quick trip to Roswell with Larry in June 2002 solidified SCI FI’s commitment to an excavation, and the dig commenced three months later.

Tom Carey
Huntingdon Valley, Pennsylvania

Don Schmitt
Hubertus, Wisconsin

* Derived from the title of the initial book on the subject, The Roswell Incident, by Charles Berlitz and William Moore (New York: Grosset & Dunlap, 1980).



THE STORY SO FAR …


A Time Line

Over the course of their work, UFO investigators Thomas Carey and Donald Schmitt compiled a historical timeline of events that comprise the “Roswell Incident.” This is the result.

June 24, 1947

While searching for a downed military aircraft, Boise, Idaho, businessman Kenneth Arnold spots nine silver, crescent-shaped objects traveling at speeds of 1,200 mph near Mount Rainier, Washington. This ushers in the modern age of unidentified flying objects (UFOs), and for the next two weeks, flying saucers make the front pages of newspapers across the country.

July 1, 1947

Sherman Campbell discovers weather balloon and radar target debris on his farm near Circleville, Ohio.

July 4, 1947 (date uncertain)

10:30 P.M.: Several ranchers north of Roswell report seeing a fiery object arc toward the ground.

Late evening: W. W. “Mack” Brazel, ranch foreman at the J. B. Foster sheep ranch (located thirty-five miles south-southeast of Corona, seventy-five miles northwest of Roswell), hears an explosion during a severe thunder and lightning storm.

Roswell residents William Woody and Bob Wolf report seeing a fiery object descend north of town. Woody believes the object landed in an area southwest of where the Corona road crosses Highway 285.

While scanning the night sky atop St. Mary’s Hospital in Roswell, several nuns see a flaming object fall to the north. They record the event in their nightly logs.

July 5, 1947 (date uncertain)

Morning: While checking his sheep with seven-year-old Dee Proctor, Mack Brazel discovers a large amount of strange wreckage covering most of Hines Pasture. Brazel returns the Proctor boy to his parents, Floyd and Loretta, then shows them a small piece of the wreckage. Declining the rancher’s urgings to accompany him back for another look, the Proctors suggest the debris may be from a flying saucer, as they understand a newspaper somewhere has posted a reward for parts of one.

Brazel hauls and stores several large pieces of wreckage inside a cattle shed about 100 feet from Hines House, a small bunkhouse on the J. B. Foster Ranch that’s approximately three miles from the debris-field site.

Afternoon-evening: Seeking opinions, Brazel visits his neighbors, the Lyman Stricklands, then Wade’s Bar in Corona, and passes around a piece of the wreckage. A relative advises that he take it to the air base in Roswell.

July 6, 1947

Early morning: Brazel notices birds of prey circling off in the distance and a faint, foul odor in the air. He saddles up and rides over to a low bluff 2.5 miles east of the Hines Draw debris field. Ascending to the top of the bluff, Brazel finds more wreckage, plus three small dead bodies.

Noon: Loading his pickup truck with two cardboard boxes full of debris, Brazel drives to the Chaves County sheriff’s office in downtown Roswell, where he informs Sheriff George Wilcox of his find. Frank Joyce, an announcer for Roswell radio station KGFL, calls the sheriff and asks for news items to air on his show. At Wilcox’s suggestion, Brazel tells Joyce about finding the wreckage and bodies of “little people.” When Joyce skeptically suggests the bodies may be monkeys from some air force experimental rocket, the enraged rancher yells, “They’re not monkeys, goddammit! They’re not human!” and slams down the phone. Sheriff Wilcox calls Roswell Army Air Field (RAAF) and is connected with the 509th Bomb Group’s intelligence officer, Major Jesse A. Marcel, who promises to come after lunch.

1:00-2:00 P.M.: After interviewing Brazel at the sheriff’s office, Marcel takes one of the boxes of wreckage back to the RAAF base to show his commanding officer, Colonel William H. “Butch” Blanchard. The second box remains at the sheriff’s office.

2:00-3:00 P.M.: Colonel Blanchard orders Marcel to follow Brazel out to the debris site. Marcel contacts CIC captain Sheridan Cavitt, who drives a Jeep Carry-All while Marcel follows the rancher’s pickup truck in his own ’42 Buick convertible. Blanchard alerts his next higher command to the find.

Late afternoon: SAC Command orders Blanchard to immediately send the secured box of wreckage from FortWorth Army Air Field to Washington, D.C., via bomber/transport.

Early evening: Too late in the day to accomplish anything outside, Brazel, Marcel, and Cavitt spend the night at the Hines house and inspect the wreckage the rancher had stored in the cattle shed.

Two deputies dispatched by Sheriff Wilcox report finding two areas of blackened ground to the north and west of Roswell. Growing darkness prevents further investigation.

July 7, 1947

Early morning: Marcel, Cavitt, and Brazel head for the Hines Pasture debris site, which Marcel would later describe as approximately three-quarters of a mile long, 200 to 300 feet wide, and covered with small pieces of extremely thin aluminum-like foil. He would also later opine the foil’s provenance as being “not from this earth.” They load the Jeep Carry-All with as much debris as it will hold.

Morning: A group of archeologists traveling cross-country and looking for signs of Paleo-Indians discover the crash site forty miles north of Roswell. A few local ranchers also come across the site, and Roswell’s sheriff’s office and fire department are quickly notified.

Sheriff Wilcox contacts the RAAF, then either follows or leads the fire engine to the crash site.

Ranchers and archeologists are warned not to discuss what they’ve seen, and the latter are taken back to the RAAF base, where they’re detained and debriefed. The sheriff’s office and fire department personnel are appealed to under the veil of “patriotism,” but ultimately are threatened with their lives and those of their family members.

Late morning: Walt Whitmore Sr. and Jud Roberts, owners of Roswell radio station KGFL, arrive at the J. B. Foster Ranch, then drive Brazel back to Roswell for the purpose of interviewing him. A wire-recorded interview of his story is made for the purpose of airing it on the station as a “scoop.” Brazel is hidden overnight at Whitmore’s house.

Afternoon: Returning to the RAAF base with a Jeep Carry-All full of wreckage, Cavitt reports to Blanchard and begins writing a report for CIC Command. Marcel drives back to the debris field and spends the rest of the day gathering additional wreckage. He does not visit the “Dee Proctor site” three miles east of the Foster Ranch debris field, where Brazel earlier informed him that “something else” could be found.

At the crash site north of Roswell, the recovery process begins. Military police (MP) units are stationed along the roads north of town, blocking access to the site west of Highway 285. More MPs are added to those ringing the crashed spacecraft.

Evening: Removed from the crash site, the recovered bodies are taken in a field ambulance to Hangar P-3 (known today as Building 84). Assigned to guard the ambulance, Staff Sergeant Melvin Brown, a cook with the 509th’s “K” Squadron, peeks under the tarp and sees the bodies (an experience he mentions only on his deathbed, many years later). Packed overnight in dry ice, the bodies are placed in a side room within the hangar.

Late evening: Marcel drives to Roswell after filling his ’42 Buick with what he believes is wreckage from a flying saucer.

July 8, 1947

2:00 A.M.: Marcel heads to his house in Roswell, where he wakes his wife and son and shows them the extraordinary wreckage (“pieces of a flying saucer,” according to his son). As he places several parts down on the kitchen floor and tries piecing them together, his son, Jesse Jr., notices what appears to be unrecognizable symbols or writing along the inner surface of one of several small rods that are shaped like an I-beam in cross section. An hour or two later, Marcel reloads his ’42 Buick and drives to the base.

7:00 A.M.: An emergency staff meeting is held in Colonel Blanchard’s office to discuss the situation. General Roger M. Ramey, commanding officer of the “Mighty” Eighth Air Force and Blanchard’s boss, and his chief of staff, Colonel Thomas J. DuBose, fly in from Fort Worth, Texas, and join PIO First Lieutenant Walter Haut, Major Marcel, Captain Cavitt, and Blanchard’s regular staff for the meeting. Upon examining the wreckage, they decide to draft and distribute a press release announcing the recovery of a flying saucer, to assuage local rumors of crashed flying saucers and dead aliens running rampant in Roswell. When Marcel mentions the Dee Proctor site, they immediately dispatch a recovery team and extend the cordon along Highway 285. Another team is dispatched to the Foster Ranch debris field site to begin cleanup. To better control the information flow, it is also determined that Brazel be located and detained.

Morning: Johnny McBoyle, a reporter for radio station KSWS, runs into Brazel at a local Roswell coffee shop and hears about the crash. He gets directions from Brazel and heads for the debris field site.

The bodies are flown to Wright Field in Dayton, Ohio. The C-54 flight, piloted by Captain Oliver W. “Pappy” Henderson of the First Air Transport Unit (the “Green Hornets”), stops first at Andrews Air Force Base in Washington, D.C., where the bodies are viewed by selected high-ranking military and civilian personnel.

Mid-morning: Brazel is located at Walt Whitmore’s house and taken into custody by a RAAF security detail. For the next week or so, he is quartered at the base guesthouse, just inside the main gate.

Late morning: The bulk of the wreckage brought in by Marcel and Cavitt is boxed in wooden crates, loaded, and flown out on C-54s to various destinations.

Wreckage from the crash site north of Roswell is placed on a flatbed, under a tarp, and driven through side streets to Hangar P-3. Additional security is brought in from White Sands, Alamogordo, and Fort Bliss to help secure the base and control events and personnel.

11:00 A.M.-noon: Under the authority of Colonel Blanchard, 1st Lt. Walter Haut writes up and distributes a brief press release to the effect that the RAAF has captured a downed flying saucer in the “Roswell region.” There is no mention of a rancher finding the wreckage or anything about alien bodies, though the release does acknowledge Major Marcel and the fact that the wreckage was being taken out of Roswell and “loaned” to a higher authority. Haut hand-carries the release to local radio stations KGFL and KSWS, plus the Roswell Daily Record (an evening newspaper) and Roswell Morning Dispatch (a morning paper).

Noon: Apprehended by military security while trying to reach the debris field, Johnny McBoyle is taken to the RAAF base for debriefing. While there, McBoyle observes the recovery operation in progress and attempts to get the scoop on the AP wire by calling his parent station in Albuquerque. Lydia Sleppy receives the call, but as she tries typing the story for transmission, she’s cut off by a message that states, “CEASE TRANSMISSION … NATIONAL SECURITY MATTER …REPEAT … CEASE TRANSMISSION … NATIONAL SECURITY MATTER.” McBoyle is pulled aside by MPs, and his life is threatened. The reporter tells Sleppy, “Forget it. It was nothing,” and never discusses the incident again.

KGFL announcer Frank Joyce puts the Haut press release on the United Press (UP) wire, making it a national and international news event.

Early afternoon: Major Marcel boards Dave’s Dream, a B-29 plane that Colonel Blanchard personally orders to fly to Fort Worth Army Air Field. “FBI types” load several boxes of wreckage (though not the bulk of it recovered from the Foster Ranch) into the bomb bay. Blanchard and First Lieutenant Robert Shirkey, the flight operations officer on duty, witness firsthand the departure of the flight, which is piloted by the deputy base commander, Colonel Payne Jennings, with Master Sergeant Robert Porter acting as crew chief. Throughout the trip, Marcel keeps on his lap a small sampling of the wreckage to personally deliver to General Ramey.

News of the recovery spreads throughout the country, then the world, as the story hits wire services. Phone lines at the base, the sheriff’s office, the media, and even the Marcel house are jammed with callers. General Clements McMullen, deputy commander of SAC in Washington, orders Colonel DuBose in Fort Worth to concoct a story that will put out the burgeoning firestorm and kill press interest in the story. General Ramey, having returned to Fort Worth to prepare for a news conference concerning the Roswell events, is already stating that it was a weather balloon, not a flying saucer, that was found.

CIC Captain Sheridan Cavitt takes Master Sergeant Lewis “Bill” Rickett to the crash site north of Roswell to solicit his immediate subordinate’s reaction and opinion before completing his report.

Afternoon: Glenn Dennis, an embalmer at the Ballard Funeral Home in Roswell, receives a series of phone calls from the RAAF base mortuary officer, who inquires about the best method of preserving tissue that’s been exposed to desert elements. The officer also asks if he has any “children’s caskets” in stock, to which Dennis replies that he has one, but can obtain as many as are needed by the close of the following day. Dennis asks if there has been an air accident and offers to drive out to the base, but the officer insists there has been no accident; his inquiries are allegedly information-seeking calls.

Colonel Blanchard—“on leave” from the base, making him unavailable to the press—sets up a command post at the crash site north of Roswell to direct the recovery operation.

New Mexico senator Dennis Chavez calls KGFL station owner Walt Whitmore Sr., warning him not to air the Brazel wire-recorded interview if he wants to remain in business. Someone from the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) also calls Whitmore with the same message, while Frank Joyce receives a threatening call from the Pentagon. Joyce protests that the caller can do nothing to a civilian. Before hanging up, the caller replies, “I’ll show you what I can do!”

The first truckloads of wreckage from the Corona debris-field site reach the RAAF base, and are taken to Hangar P-3 for storage.

Three bodies recovered from the Dee Proctor site, along with a moderate amount of wreckage, arrive at the RAAF base hospital via military ambulance.

Friends see Mack Brazel walk down a Roswell street in the company of an armed military security detail. Perhaps also accompanied by Walt Whitmore Sr., Brazel visits and informs the Roswell Daily Record that he had found a weather balloon on his ranch, not a flying saucer as had been previously reported. Brazel’s photo is taken and released on the AP wire—the first wire photo ever sent out from Roswell.

Dave’s Dream lands in Fort Worth, where Marcel brings his box of wreckage to General Ramey’s office and places it on his desk. Ramey asks Marcel to follow him into a room with a large wall map and point out exactly where the wreckage was found. Reentering Ramey’s office after a brief discussion, Marcel notices that the box is gone, and spread out on the floor are the remains of a rubber weather balloon and a torn-up radar target. J. Bond Johnson, a reporter/photographer for the Fort Worth Star Telegram, enters the room and takes photographs of Marcel, Ramey, Colonel Du-Bose, and Warrant Officer Irving Newton (the base weather officer on duty) posing with the balloon and radar target. Declaring the flight to Wright Field has been canceled, Ramey orders Marcel to return to his duties in Roswell.

Late afternoon: Cleanup continues at both crash sites.

Mack Brazel, still accompanied by the RAAF security detail, visits Frank Joyce at KGFL and gives him the new weather balloon explanation. The surprised announcer asks what is happening, but Brazel insists, “I have to say this. It will go hard on me if I don’t.” Joyce asks, “What about the ‘little green men’ you told me about?” to which Brazel responds, “They weren’t green,” and leaves the station.

A preliminary autopsy of the bodies from the Dee Proctor site is attempted at the RAAF base hospital.

In Roswell, Glenn Dennis is dispatched to transport an airman injured in a motorcycle accident to the RAAF base hospital for treatment. Noticing increased activity and security around the hospital, Dennis passes several field ambulances parked close by the entrance. Looking inside one that has its rear doors open, he sees several large pieces of metallic wreckage (“like burnt steel,” he recalls); one piece is shaped like the end of a canoe, with unfamiliar symbols or writing on its surface. Dennis drops off the injured airman inside the hospital, but the beehive of activity and unfamiliar personnel prompts him to ask if there’s been a plane crash. He is told first to remain where he’s standing, then to leave the building. On his way out, he bumps into a nurse he knows. The nurse, crying and holding a towel over her face, warns him to leave. A redheaded army captain confronts and threatens Dennis, who protests that he’s a civilian and cannot be ordered around by the military. The captain warns, “They’ll be picking your bones out of the sand, sonny, if you don’t watch out.” “I think he’d make better dog food, sir,” chimes in a black NCO accompanying the captain. Forcibly escorted to his ambulance, Dennis drives back to the funeral home, followed the entire way by two MPs.

The Roswell Daily Record runs the front-page headline “RAAF Captures Flying Saucer on Ranch in Roswell Region.”

Early evening: At the RAAF base hospital, the horrific smell of the rapidly decomposing bodies forces the medical team to abort the preliminary autopsy.

General Ramey gives an interview on Fort Worth radio station WBAP, and reiterates the weather balloon cover story.

6:17 P.M.: An FBI memo from Dallas, Texas, to Director and SAC, Cincinnati, acknowledges that the Roswell wreckage, contrary to General Ramey’s flight cancellation declaration, did indeed go to Wright Field in Dayton, Ohio, and that his weather balloon explanation had not been “borne out.”

Evening: The bodies at the RAAF base hospital are sent not to Hangar P-3 for storage, but to a tent placed at the far south end of the base because of the smell. Native American enlistees from Colorado are brought in to stand guard around the tent overnight.

July 9, 1947

Early morning: The Roswell Morning Dispatch features General Ramey’s weather balloon cover story. Most papers in the country carry both versions of the story simultaneously, though Ramey’s version is more prominently featured.

Cleanup at the crash sites continues. Additional help is brought in from Fort Bliss in El Paso, Texas, to help “vacuum” the sites.

Mid-morning: Wreckage from the two crash sites is placed inside wooden crates in Hangar P-3 (one large crate, 4 × 6 × 12 feet, will hold a very special cargo), then loaded onto C-54 planes. At least one flight goes to Los Alamos, New Mexico, via Kirtland Field in Albuquerque, another to a base in Florida, but most head for Wright Field in Dayton. Sergeant Robert E. Smith of the First Air Transport Unit, who helped load the crates onto the planes, is shown a piece of the “memory metal” by another NCO, who then puts it back into his pocket.

Late morning-noon: An aircraft carrying a Secret Service envoy representing President Harry S. Truman arrives at the RAAF from Washington. Aviation pioneer Charles A. Lindbergh is also on the flight.

Transferred from the tent to Hangar P-3, the dead bodies are sealed in lead-lined body bags (due to the smell from decomposition) and loaded into the large wooden crate, then moved from the hangar to Bomb Pit #1.

Early afternoon: Officers from the RAAF base visit local newspapers and radio stations to retrieve all copies of First Lieutenant Walter Haut’s original press release.

Inside the Officers’ Club, Glenn Dennis meets with the nurse he ran into at the base hospital. Still sick from the day before, the nurse tells him about the aborted autopsy on the bodies, then draws a picture of what they looked like on a prescription pad. She warns Dennis that he must never discuss what she’s told him or divulge her name to anyone, then leaves the club. According to Dennis, he never sees the nurse again; she was transferred to England a few days later, then allegedly killed in an airplane accident later that year.

Afternoon: The final C-54 carrying crated wreckage departs; what remains intact of the craft or escape pod itself is left behind in Hangar P-3.

Several off-duty flight crew members from the 393rd Bomb Squadron—including Robert Slusher, Lloyd Thompson, Thaddeus Love, and Joseph Osepchook—report in gear as ordered to Bomb Pit #1. The crew members see a canvas tarp covering the loading area where bombs are stored prior to loading onto an aircraft. Taxiing up the runway is a B-29, identified by the nose art as the Straight Flush and piloted by Captain Frederick E. Ewing of the 393rd Bomb Squadron. The waiting flight crew is ordered to turn away from the aircraft while the crate is loaded into the bomb bay, accompanied by a half-dozen armed MPs. Once secured, the crew takes off for a one-hour flight to Fort Worth. Instead of the normal 25,000-foot pressurized cruising altitude for such flights, the Straight Flush flies the entire way at only 8,000 feet because of MPs guarding “General Ramey’s furniture” in the bomb bay. Onboard rumors of the cargo having something to do with a crashed flying saucer are confirmed to Slusher by Captain William Anderson.

The Roswell Daily Record runs the weather balloon cover story with the front-page headline “General Ramey Empties Roswell Saucer.” A second front-page article (“Harassed Rancher Who Located ‘Saucer’ Sorry HeTold About It”), features Mack Brazel’s revised weather balloon story, which he gave to the newspaper the day before while in the security of the military. Brazel disavows the story at the end of the article, however, while the newspaper’s editorial page runs an opinion piece stating that something had indeed happened, but that the army was keeping secret on the matter.

Early evening: While the Straight Flush taxis up the runway at Fort Worth Army Air Field, flight crew member and bombardier Lieutenant Felix Martucci recognizes an old high school friend among the greeting party of officers on the tarmac; Martucci also knows that his friend is a mortician. The crew is not permitted to disembark the aircraft. After the crate is off-loaded, Major Jesse Marcel exits the Flight Operations Building and boards the Straight Flush for a return flight to Roswell. As the B-29 turns around and takes off, Lieutenant Martucci is heard to exclaim, “Boys, we just made the history books!”

Evening: The Straight Flush arrives back at the RAAF. With the press having swallowed the weather balloon story, the “Roswell Incident” is now considered a dead issue. Marcel heads home.

The bodies are examined and kept overnight in a secure building at Fort Worth AAF.

July 10, 1947

Morning: A plane flies from Wright Field to Fort Worth AAF, then returns to Wright Field with a large metallic container.

Cleanup continues at both crash sites.

Believing he has been made a “fall guy,” Major Marcel confronts CIC Captain Cavitt and demands to see his report to higher authorities concerning the events of the past few days. Marcel is refused.

Mack Brazel continues to be detained and interrogated by the military at the RAAF base.

Realizing their oversight in all of the goings-on of the past few days, a security detail from the RAAF confiscates the second box of debris from Sheriff Wilcox’s office. Wilcox and his family are exhorted and threatened not to discuss what they know.Wilcox and a deputy later visit Glenn Dennis’s father to warn him that his son will be in a lot of trouble if he doesn’t forget about what he saw at the base.

KGFL station owner Walt Whitmore Sr., now cooperating with the military in order to save his radio license, is told to drive himself, announcer Frank Joyce, and an unidentified “sinister-looking man in a strange uniform” north of Roswell, to a small town named Lon (no longer on the map). Stopping outside a small shack, Joyce is told to wait inside. Minutes later, Mack Brazel appears and appeals to Joyce, “You’re not going to say anything about what we talked about on the phone or at the radio station, are you?” Realizing his situation, Joyce responds in the negative, to which Brazel replies, “Well, good, then. Nice knowing you.” Joyce responds in kind, though just before he leaves, Brazel comments, “You know, our lives will never be the same again.” (As an aside, Joyce said that Brazel would call him once a year for many years thereafter, just to check up on him.)

July 11, 1947

The cleanup at both crash sites is completed. MPs and other personnel involved in the retrieval cleanup are debriefed and ordered never to discuss the incident.

British RAF officer Hughie Green drives cross-country from California to Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, listening to updates about the crash on his car radio. By the time he arrives in Philadelphia, however, there are no further updates. The story is dead, and he can obtain no further information about it.

July 12-13, 1947

Bill Brazel Jr. travels from his home in Albuquerque to his father’s Corona ranch to find out what is going on. Instead, he discovers that his father is not there, nor is there any sign of the military.

July 15, 1947

After a full physical examination, Mack Brazel’s interrogation and detention at the base is concluded, and he is finally returned to his ranch. For the rest of his life, Brazel remains bitter regarding his treatment at the hands of the U.S. military, just for doing what he perceived as his patriotic duty.

FBI director J. Edgar Hoover, responding to a suggestion that the FBI stay out of alleged crashed flying disc investigations, writes that he would in fact have become involved if it were not that the army in the Roswell case “grabbed it and wouldn’t let us have it even for a cursory examination.”

August 1947

After a rainfall near the debris field, Mack Brazel and a young ranch hand, Tommy Tyree, spot a piece of debris in a sinkhole. They leave it there and move on.

September 1947

Dr. Lincoln LaPaz, a meteorite expert secretly charged with reconstructing the object’s speed and trajectory when it crashed, arrives at the RAAF. Accompanied by CIC Master Sergeant Rickett, LaPaz spends the month traversing the entire state of New Mexico, plus parts of Arizona and Texas, interviewing ranchers and examining physical traces left by the object. It’s LaPaz’s belief that the object had been in trouble and touched down for repairs several times, leaving black spots that turned to glass, before exploding over the J. B. Foster Ranch. He and Rickett also find a section of pine trees that had been taken out by the object as it descended. LaPaz writes a report of his findings and sends it through channels.

October 1947

A specially modified B-29 flies what’s left of the intact saucer or escape pod from the RAAF base to Wright Field.

1948

While excavating in the field, Dr. LaPaz tells Boyd Wetlauffer, a University of New Mexico archeology graduate student, about the previous year’s events in Roswell. LaPaz also informs CIC Master Sergeant Rickett that he is convinced the Roswell wreckage was an unmanned probe from another planet.

1949

Flying from Albuquerque to San Antonio, Texas, General Arthur Exon and several other officers are able to simultaneously view both the Foster Ranch debris field and the crash site fifteen to twenty miles away. The vehicle tracks at each site, plus a gouge at the debris field site, remain visible.

Bill Brazel Jr., having found various scraps of debris for the past two years and kept them in a cigar box, mentions that fact in Corona. The next day, a Captain Armstrong and three others from the RAAF base turn up at his ranch and confiscate the cigar box containing the debris.

1950

Grady L. “Barney” Barnett, a Socorro, New Mexico soil conservation engineer, tells close family and friends about finding a crashed flying saucer with dead alien bodies in the plains of San Agustin, west of Socorro, a few years before. Corroboration for Barnett’s story is lacking beyond those to whom he confided.

1961

Former Roswell sheriff George Wilcox passes away and is buried in Roswell. He never ran for sheriff again after the Roswell events. His wife later has a small piece regarding the 1947 events published in a local magazine.

1963

Mack Brazel, who kept much to himself following his ordeal with the military, passes away at the age of sixty-four. He is buried in Tularosa.

General Roger M. Ramey, former commander of the Eighth Air Force, passes away. He is buried in the family plot in Denton, Texas.

1965

Four-star Lieutenant General William Blanchard, deputy chief of staff of the air force and former RAAF base commander, dies of a heart attack at his desk in the Pentagon. He is buried at the Air Force Academy.

1967

“Barney” Barnett passes away and is buried in Dalhart, Texas.

1972

UFO researcher and lecturer Stanton Friedman interviews Lydia Sleppy, the woman who was prevented from placing Johnny McBoyle’s Roswell crash story on the AP wire.

1978

Leonard Stringfield, an Ohio businessman and UFO researcher, interviews Jesse Marcel Sr. He subsequently self-publishes “Retrievals of the Third Kind,” a limited-circulation monograph of UFO crash information accumulated over the years.

After a lecture in Baton Rouge, Louisiana, Stanton Friedman learns of a Jesse Marcel, who once held wreckage of a flying saucer in his hands, living in Houma. Friedman also hooks up with a Minnesota schoolteacher, William Moore; they begin research on the story, which yields a book two years later.

“Pappy” Henderson confides to close friend John Kromschroeder that he flew crashed UFO wreckage to Wright Field back in the 1940s.

1979

William Moore and Stanton Friedman continue to interview witnesses for their book about the Roswell Incident. Friedman also interviews Jesse Marcel for his UFO video documentary UFOs Are Real.

1980

The In Search Of television series hosted by Leonard Nimoy interviews Jesse Marcel at the Foster Ranch debris-field site. Marcel reiterates that he is certain the wreckage was nothing from this earth.

William Moore and language expert Charles Berlitz publish The Roswell Incident, which is based upon interviews with approximately sixty people.

1982

“Pappy” Henderson tells his wife, Sapho, about his role in the Roswell incident after seeing a story about it in a supermarket tabloid.

HBO interviews Bill Brazel Jr. at the Foster Ranch debris field for their UFO special UFOs: What’s Happening?

1986

Jesse Marcel Sr. passes away. He is buried in Houma, Louisiana.

1987

News of the MJ-12 documents is made public to the UFO community. They are controversial documents that allegedly tell the incredible tale of the July 1947 recovery of a flying saucer near Roswell. Many believe the documents are part of a hoax by William Moore.

1988

An air force pickup truck is seen on the Foster Ranch. The driver asks ranch hand Jim Parker if the Roswell crash site is nearby.

Author Kevin Randle and Don Schmitt, a UFO investigator for the J. Allen Hynek Center for UFO Studies, reopen the investigation of the Roswell case. They are intent on proving that a weather balloon was responsible.

1989

The Center for UFO Studies conducts a preliminary archeological expedition around the Foster Ranch debris field.

The Robert Stack-hosted TV series Unsolved Mysteries airs an opening segment devoted to the 1947 Roswell UFO crash. The show receives wide attention, and many new witnesses come forth to aid the ongoing investigation. One witness, Gerald Anderson, claims to have been at the plains of San Agustin crash site in 1947 as a five-year-old boy. After three years of intense investigation of his claims, however, he is proven to be a hoaxer.

1990

Kevin Randle and Don Schmitt continue to interview witnesses regarding Roswell; they no longer believe a weather balloon was the cause of the event.

1991

The Fund for UFO Research brings a number of Roswell witnesses to Washington D.C., to have their testimonies videotaped and memorialized for posterity.

Joining Kevin Randle and Don Schmitt is Thomas Carey, a Philadelphia businessman and UFO investigator. Together, they try locating the archeologists who found the crashed UFO in 1947.

Former CIC Master Sergeant Lewis “Bill” Rickett passes away in Florida.

Randle and Schmitt publish their first book about Roswell, UFO Crash at Roswell, which is based on interviews with over 150 people.

Several anti-UFO Roswell investigators discover Project Mogul, a failed secret military project in 1947 and 1948 that tried detecting the then-impending Russian detonation of an atomic device by means of high-altitude, balloon-borne acoustic sensors.

1992

Viacom releases UFO Secret: The Roswell Crash, the first commercial video on the Roswell incident. Another video, Recollections of Roswell, is produced for the UFO community, and features the videotaped interviews of the witnesses FUFOR brought to Washington, D.C., in 1991.

Stanton Friedman and aviation writer Don Berliner publish Crash at Corona.

1993

The Government Accounting Office (GAO), under the urging of New Mexico congressman Stephen Schiff, announces its plans to investigate the paper trail of the 1947 Roswell events.

1994

Kevin Randle and Don Schmitt publish their second Roswell book, The Truth about the UFO Crash at Roswell, which is based on interviews with over 300 people.

The CBS-TV prime-time newsmagazine 48 Hours does a pro-piece about the Roswell case.

The Showtime original movie Roswell premieres. The film is later nominated for a Golden Globe Award.

The air force releases its own preliminary report, put together as a result of the GAO directive. It concludes that the 1947 Roswell Incident was the result of a crashed Project Mogul balloon array. The New York Times uncritically accepts the air force’s explanation in a front-page story.

1995

The GAO releases its report, despite being unable to find a paper trail associated with the events in Roswell; all messages and documents from the Roswell army air force base regarding the period in question had been destroyed, without apparent reason or authority.

The air force releases its second report on the Roswell case, Fact versus Fiction in the New Mexico Desert, which reiterates the Project Mogul theme.

1997

The fiftieth anniversary of the Roswell Incident makes the town a household name; a spate of books, TV specials, and newspaper and magazine articles culminate with a Time cover story in the magazine’s July issue.

The air force releases its third and final report on Roswell. Entitled The Roswell Report: Case Closed, the document claims that the reports of alien bodies recovered as a result of the claimed 1947 UFO crash resulted from the air force’s high-altitude parachute testing conducted with mannequins in the 1950s. The air force also claims that a mental process called “time-compression” is the cause of people remembering the dates wrong.

July 4: MSNBC-TV provides all-day coverage of the events taking place in Roswell.

The History Channel airs an anti-Roswell documentary that promotes the Project Mogul theme.

1998

While public interest in the Roswell incident subsides, Tom Carey and Don Schmitt team up to reinvestigate the case. Over the next four years, their investigation results in new witnesses, new information from old witnesses, and a new crash scenario.

1999

Former Roswell CIC Captain Sheridan Cavitt passes away, taking whatever he knows about the Roswell Incident to his grave. Attending medical personnel later interviewed tell of Cavitt’s refusal to take pain medication during his final days, as if he were afraid of saying something he did not want to divulge. During visits from his family, he would just stare out his window and say nothing to them.

2000

Work on the “Ramey memo” begins bearing fruit. The application of computer photographic software to the 1947 photo taken by J. Bond Johnson—in which the general is seen clutching a telex in his hand—enables several teams of investigators to “read” parts of the telex.

2001

Anti-UFO Roswell investigator Karl T. Pflock publishes Roswell: Inconvenient Facts and the Will to Believe, which reiterates the Project Mogul theme.

2002

The History Channel does its second anti-UFO Roswell documentary, again promoting the Project Mogul theme.

The SCI FI Channel airs its groundbreaking documentary on the first archeological excavation of the debris field, sponsored by the channel and supervised by the University of New Mexico. The special (entitled The Roswell Crash: Startling New Evidence) garners the channel’s highest-ever rating for an original special.

October 2003

The SCI FI Channel airs its long-awaited follow-up to the 2002 documentary, including an analysis of all the Historical Materials of Uncertain Origin (HMUOs) excavated in 2002.

2004

New York-based publisher Simon & Schuster releases SCI FI Declassified: The Roswell Dig Diaries, a complete chronicle of the historical excavation.

About the Authors

Thomas Carey, a UFO investigator with a master’s in anthropology, is a former board member of the J. Allen Hynek Center for UFO Studies (CUFOS), and has been the MUFON (Mutual UFO Network) state section director for southeastern Pennsylvania since 1986, investigating local UFO sightings in the Delaware Valley. Don Schmitt, CUFOS’s former director of special investigations, is the coauthor of the best-selling books UFO Crash at Roswell (Avon, 1991), which was the basis of the Golden Globe-nominated telefilm Roswell in 1994, and The Truth about the UFO Crash at Roswell (William Morrow & Co., 1994). He is also an adviser to the board of directors of the International UFO Museum & Research Center in Roswell, New Mexico. Carey and Schmitt are the coauthors of The Roswell Report, and served as technical advisers during the SCI FI Channel’s sponsored excavation of the J. B. Foster Ranch debris field in September 2002.
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in·i·tia·tive noun: 1. the ability to act and make decisions without the help or advice of other people; 2. the first step in a process that, once taken, determines subsequent events; 3. a plan or strategy designed to deal with a particular problem; 4. a favorable position that allows somebody to take preemptive action or control events; the right to bring a new law or measure before a legislative body; a process valid in many U.S. states and in Switzerland that allows citizens to propose legislation by petition.

—Encarta World English Dictionary, 1999



It started with initiative. Initiative from a television miniseries about alien abductions and government conspiracies that became a cable network’s impetus for publicly advocating the Freedom of Information Act. And from this came an offshoot goal: to discover the truth about what really happened outside of Roswell, New Mexico one evening in July, 1947.

A funded excavation at the former J. B. Foster Ranch in Corona wasn’t on the SCI FI Channel’s itinerary in April 2002, during an internal meeting in its New York City offices. The meeting was supposed to be a think-tank session for promoting Taken, SCI FI’s then-upcoming original miniseries presented by Steven Spielberg. But it was a key plot element in the mini-series—the “Roswell Incident”—that caught the attention of Dave Howe, SCI FI’s senior vice president of marketing, and Larry Landsman, SCI FI’s director of special projects. Landsman was already intimately familiar with those now-famous events from 1947; while at Showtime as its director of public relations operations and photographic services, he had worked closely with producer Paul David on the network’s 1994 film Roswell, which was adapted from Kevin Randle and Don Schmitt’s book UFO Crash at Roswell.

Seeing Taken as an opportunity for SCI FI to launch its long-explored programming crusade to distinguish science fiction from science fact, Landsman helped spearhead a public advocacy and research effort by the channel. On October 22, 2002, SCI FI, allied with the Washington, D.C., lobbying firm of PodestaMattoon, traveled to the nation’s capital and campaigned in support of a Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) initiative. From the National Press Club, John Podesta, former chief of staff to U.S. president Bill Clinton, would further iterate the channel’s call for Congress to declassify U.S. government records on unidentified aerial phenomena.
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For Immediate Release

SCI FI CHANNEL CHALLENGES GOVERNMENT SECRECY

Supports New FOIA Effort on UFO Records and Release of Report on Failure to Conduct Scientific Research

Washington, D.C., October 22, 2002—Announcing its support for a new public effort to gain release of secret government records on unidentified aerial phenomena,commonly referred to as UFOs,SCI FI Channel today joined with John Podesta, President Clinton’s former chief of staff, to call for more declassification of government records.

As part of its advocacy effort, SCI FI is backing a Freedom of Information Act initiative to obtain government records on cases involving retrieval of objects of unknown origin by the secret Air Force operations Project Moon Dust and Operation Blue Fly. Assisting SCI FI in its FOIA effort is the Washington, D.C. law firm of Lobel,Novins and Lamont.

Acknowledging the controversy that has swirled around the UFO issue for over 50 years, Podesta said, “It is time for the government to declassify records that are more than 25 years old and to provide scientists with data that will assist in determining the real nature of this phenomenon.”

Explaining SCI FI Channel’s involvement, Bonnie Hammer, the network’s president, said, “For the past decade, SCI FI programming has explored the often-blurred line that separates science fiction from science fact. But when credible scientists conclude that 5% to 10% of UFOs cannot be explained by natural or artificial causes, we think it is worth taking a much closer look at what is clearly a real and ubiquitous phenomenon.”

To bolster its point, SCI FI commissioned a report by independent journalist Leslie Kean to document the government’s failure to carry out systematic scientific research into the UFO phenomenon. Kean, whose articles have appeared in major U.S. newspapers, said, “The fact is that scientists who have spent time studying, classifying, and analyzing these phenomena agree that they are real, and that it will require a sustained research effort to determine their cause.”

“The public has a right to know what is being observed in our air-space, once it has been determined it is not a foreign or domestic air-craft,” said Kean.

In view of a recent Roper Poll commissioned by SCI FI Channel showing that 56% of Americans believe that UFOs are real and that 72% of the public believe that the government isn’t telling everything it knows about UFO activity, SCI FI also announced the formation of the Coalition for Freedom of Information (CFi). Ed Rothschild, CFi’s director, said, “We have constructed a new website www.freedomofinfo.org to generate public support for greater disclosure of government records and for more scientific investigation. We are providing the public with an opportunity to get directly involved in this issue. The site contains some of the best information available on this issue as well as petitions the public can sign.”

Finally, Hammer announced that on November 8, SCI FI will sponsor a symposium exploring the potential for interstellar travel and the evidence of unidentified aerial phenomena at George Washington University. Panelists will include eminent American scientists and aviation experts.
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John Podesta, President Bill Clinton’s former Chief of Staff

Speech at a press conference sponsored by the SCI FI Channel

Oct. 22, 2002, at the National Press Club


I thought I might start with the famous line by Admiral Stockdale: “Who am I; what am I doing here?” Or maybe I should start with who I am not: I’ve never been followed by a tractor beam. I’ve never been bathed in the glow of a white light coming from the sky. I certainly have never been taken, and while my obsession—which, for some of you, was well known while I was in the White House—with The X-Files earned me the title of ‘First Fan,’ I think I always understood the difference between fact and fiction. So, I guess you could call me a skeptic.

But I’m skeptical about many things, including the notion that government always knows best, and that the people can’t be trusted with the truth. That’s why I’ve dedicated three decades of my life, both in private practice on the Senate Judiciary Committee and in my work at the White House, to the fundamental principle of protecting openness in government. As Harold Cross, the father of the Freedom of Information Act and a well-known journalism professor at the University of Missouri, said, “The right to speak and the right to print, without the right to know, are pretty empty.”

I believe that the notion of open government—the fundamental tenets of the Freedom of Information Act—are really part and parcel of our First Amendment rights. And I think it’s worth going back and reminding you just exactly what those tenets really are that form the basis of that Act: that disclosure is the general rule, not the exception; that all individuals have equal right of access; that the burden is on the government to justify the withholding of a document,not on the person requesting it; and that individuals improperly denied access to documents have the right to seek injunctive relief in the courts. That’s why I’m here today to add my voice to Bonnie,Leslie,and Lee’s. I think it’s time to open the books on questions that have remained in the dark; on the question of government investigations of UFOs. It’s time to find out what the truth really is that’s out there. We ought to do it because it’s right. We ought to do it because the American people,quite frankly, can handle the truth. And we ought to do it because it’s the law.

Let me explain what I mean by that: in 1995, President Clinton signed Executive Order 12958, which set tough standards for classifying documents, and led to an unprecedented effort to declassify millions of pages from our nation’s diplomatic and national security history. Before President Clinton signed that executive order, a tiny minority of classified documents—only five percent—had a fixed classification date. Since the signing of that order, more than 50 percent of those documents are now marked for declassification in ten years or less. But even more significantly, during the five years that the executive order was in place, its policies resulted in the declassification of over 800 million pages of historically valuable records, with the prospect of many hundreds of millions more pages to be declassified in the next few years. To give you a bit of a comparison: in the previous 15 years, the government had declassified a total of 188 million pages. So I think that was a singular accomplishment of the Clinton Administration. For future generations, our history books will rely on the information contained in those declassified documents. Scholars, historians, journalists, everyday researchers around the world—not just in the United States—will explore the past and help guide our future.

But the work is not done. That order requires the automatic declassification of records that are 25 years or older, subject to a very narrow set of exceptions. And I want to note two of those: one is that the automatic declassification rule doesn’t apply if it reveals the identity of a confidential human source—and I underline the word human. And I think that we’re not talking about that in the cases that ought to be looked at, reviewed and declassified. The other is that they would seriously or demonstrably undermine ongoing diplomatic activities of the United States. And unless we have ongoing diplomatic activities with people who are extraterrestrials that I am unaware of, I think that exception doesn’t apply, either. So, there are these cases in which documents haven’t been made available to the American public. The American public is quite skeptical about the fact that the government won’t make them available for public inspection. These are records that are more than 25 years old. They ought to be declassified. They ought to be released. And we ought to be able to see for ourselves what’s included in them.

This morning, Dana Millbank’s story in the Washington Post notes that our government does not always reveal the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth, and that even the highest leaders of our government don’t always tell the facts just as they are. That’s why freedom of information is so important, and the information that is included in the requests that we are discussing is so critical to be put in front of the American public, so that they can make their own judgments about the conduct of the program of investigation, as well as the facts there, that the Air Force and others have discovered.
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Planning out the advocacy initiative did much more than provide a promotional push for a television miniseries, however; it also encouraged Landsman to renew contact with Don Schmitt, who had served as a technical advisor on Showtime’s production of Roswell. In late spring of 2002, he asked Schmitt, now partnered with fellow UFO investigator Tom Carey, to investigate the Roswell case for the SCI FI Channel. The duo expressed that the most effective investigation would be an official excavation of the Foster Ranch debris field, in New Mexico’s Lincoln County; they had proposed the idea and worked out preliminary budgets with the University of New Mexico’s Office of Contract Archeology in 1999, but were unable to secure enough financial backing. Landsman took the proposal to Senior management, setting the wheels in motion with an email that outlined not only Schmitt and Carey’s objectives, but SCI FI’s as well.
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From: Landsman, Larry

Sent: Tuesday, May 28, 2002 1:59 PM
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